**Brief of Appellant** 

Filed 01-11-2021

Page 1 of 35

FILED 01-11-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Appeal No. 2020AP001848

CITY OF CEDARBURG, Plaintiff-Respondent,

-VS.-

KATHERINE D. YOUNG, Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION FILED ON SEPTEMBER 29, 2020,
THE HONORABLE SANDY A. WILLIAMS, PRESIDING,
IN THE OZAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT.
OZAUKEE COUNTY CASE NO. 2019CV000424

#### **DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF**

Respectfully submitted by:

Michael G. Levine, SBN 1050078

LAW OFFICES OF ROBERT A. LEVINE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
I. Procedural History and Preservation of Issues for Appeal
II. Factual History5
ARGUMENT 9
I. THE CITY DID NOT PRESENT CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE AT TRIAL THAT YOUNG OPERATED A VEHICLE WHILE IMPAIRED TO THE REQUISITE DEGREE9
A. Legal standards governing a sufficiency of the evidence review9
B. The City did not present clear and convincing evidence at trial that Young was under the influence of an intoxicant10
C. Even if this Court finds sufficient evidence that Young was intoxicated while at school, the City did not present clear and convincing evidence at trial that Young operated a vehicle at 11:31 a.m
D. Even if this Court finds sufficient evidence to conclude Young was driving at 11:31 a.m., and that she was intoxicated <i>while at school</i> , the City did not present clear and convincing evidence at trial that Young had consumed alcohol <i>prior to</i> driving at 11:31 a.m
E. Even if this Court finds sufficient evidence that Young operated a vehicle after consuming alcohol, the City did not present clear and convincing evidence at trial that Young drove while under the influence of an intoxicant to

Page 3 of 35

Case 2020AP001848 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-11-2021 Page 4 of 35

## **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

## **CASES**

Burg ex rel. Weichert v. Cincinnati Ins. Co., 2002 WI 76, 254 Wis. 2d 36, 645 N.W.2d 880
City of Cedarburg v. Hansen, 2020 WI 11, 390 Wis. 2d 109, 938 N.W.2d 46323
City of Eau Claire v. Booth, 2016 WI 65, 370 Wis. 2d 595, 882 N.W.2d 73823
City of Fond du Lac v. Hernandez, 42 Wis. 2d 473, 167 N.W.2d 408 (1969)15
City of Milwaukee v. Bichel, 35 Wis. 2d 66, 150 N.W.2d 419 (1967)11
City of Milwaukee v. Johnston, 21 Wis. 2d 411, 124 N.W.2d 690 (1963)11
City of Milwaukee v. Kelly, 40 Wis. 2d 136, 161 N.W.2d 271 (1968)10, 11
City of Milwaukee v. Wilson, 96 Wis. 2d 11, 291 N.W.2d 452 (1980)9
County of Winnebago v. Kettleson (unpublished), 2013 WL 2319548 (Ct. App. 2013)23
Gatewood v. State, 921 N.E.2d 45 (Ct. App. Ind. 2010)16
Krueger v. State, 84 Wis. 2d 272, 267 N.W.2d 602 (1978)10
Milwaukee County v. Proegler, 95 Wis. 2d 614, 291 N.W.2d 608 (Ct. App. 1980)15
Monroe County v. Kruse, 76 Wis. 2d 126, 250 N.W.2d 375 (1977)15

Case 2020AP001848

Peterson v. Tipton, 833 P.2d 830 (Colo. Ct. App. 1992)21
Playle v. Commissioner of Public Safety, 439 N.W.2d 747 (Ct. App. Minn. 1989)10, 22
Shawano County v. Wendt, 20 Wis. 2d 29, 121 N.W.2d 300 (1963)15
State v. Bolanos, 753 A.2d 943 (Conn. App. Ct. 2000)21
State v. Boylen, 547 N.W.2d 202 (Iowa 1996)16
State v. Burkman, 96 Wis. 2d 630, 292 N.W.2d 641 (1980)11
State v. Forster, 2003 WI App 29, 260 Wis. 2d 149, 659 N.W.2d 1449
State v. Gregoroff, 951 P.2d 578 (Mont. 1997)16
State v. Hale, 2005 WI 7, 277 Wis. 2d 593, 691 N.W.2d
State v. Jensen, 2007 WI 26, 299 Wis. 2d 267, 727 N.W.2d 518
State v. Jorgensen, 2008 WI 60, 310 Wis. 2d 138, 754 N.W.2d 77 18, 20
State v. King, 2005 WI App 224, 287 Wis. 2d 756, 706 N.W.2d 181 19
State v. Kolk, 2006 WI App 261, 298 Wis. 2d 99, 726 N.W.2d 337 20
State v. Larson, 243 P.3d 1130 (Mont. 2010)16

Page 6 of 35

State v. Mayo, 2007 WI 78, 301 Wis. 2d 642, 734 N.W.2d 115 17, 18
State v. Mertes, 2008 WI App 179, 315 Wis. 2d 756, 762 N.W.2d 813 9, 13, 15
State v. Miller, 2012 WI 61, 341 Wis. 2d 307, 815 N.W.2d 34921
State v. Myers, 924 N.W.2d 823 (Iowa 2019)11
State v. Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990)9
State v. Powers, 2004 WI App 143, 275 Wis. 2d 456, 685 N.W.2d 869 10, 21
State v. Riefenstahl, 779 A.2d 675 (Vt. 2001)21
State v. Rutzinski, 2001 WI 22, 241 Wis. 2d 729, 623 N.W.2d 51621
State v. Slater, 986 P.2d 1038 (Kan. 1999)21
State v. Sonnenberg, 117 Wis. 2d 159, 344 N.W.2d 95 (1984)17
State v. Steinke (unpublished), 2010 WI App 135, 2010 WL 33898811516
State v. Wulff, 207 Wis. 2d 143, 557 N.W.2d 813 (1997)10
United States v. Burks, 437 U.S. 1 (1978)10
Village of Cross Plains v. Haanstad, 2006 WI 16, 288 Wis. 2d 573, 709 N.W.2d 447

## **CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS**

U.S. Const. Amend. VI	18	
Wis. Const. Art. I, § 7	18	
<u>STATUTES</u>		
Wis. Stat. § 343.303	7	
Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a)	2, 8, 10, 15	
Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)	23	
Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)4	23	
Wis. Stat. § 800.04(1)(d)	24	
Wis. Stat. § 800.14(4)	2	
Wis. Stat. § 805.17(2)	9	
Wis. Stat. § 901.03(4)	17	
Wis. Stat. § 967.055(1)(a)	22	
Wis. Stat. § 968.085	22	
JURY INSTRUCTIONS		
Wis. JI-Criminal 2633	6, 10, 15	

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Whether the evidence at trial was sufficient to prove Young (a) operated a motor vehicle (b) while under the influence of an intoxicant (c) to a degree that rendered her incapable of safely driving; even though (a1) no clear and convincing evidence exists to prove Young operated a motor vehicle during the time when she was alleged to have been intoxicated; (b1) no trained officer performed any field sobriety tests, and no chemical test of blood or breath ever occurred; and (c1) no evidence exists to demonstrate that Young drove while lacking the ability to safely handle and control a motor vehicle?

Despite the municipal court finding Young not guilty and dismissing her citation, the circuit court found Young guilty of Operating While Under the Influence of an Intoxicant (OWI) (1st Offense). The circuit court thus found the evidence sufficient.

II. Whether the circuit court committed plain error by denying Young's motion to dismiss when it was clear that her constitutional right to confront her accuser was violated by the prosecution refusing to make the complaining police officer available at trial?

The circuit court found no constitutional violation and denied Young's motion to dismiss.

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Young would welcome oral argument.

Young believes this Court's opinion in this case warrants consideration for publication because this case presents unique questions of law that may have far-reaching precedential implications. Young has been unable to locate any controlling case law that directly addresses the questions raised in this case.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## I. Procedural History and Preservation of Issues for Appeal

On January 24, 2019, Defendant-Appellant Katherine Young received Citation No. AD919952-5 in the mail, alleging that on December 12, 2018, she had operated a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a). (R.4.)

This was the first and *only* notice Young received alerting her of the fact that an incident at work *forty-three days earlier* had come to the attention of law enforcement.

Cedarburg Police Officer Bradley Meyer issued the citation, and it alleged that at 11:31 a.m. on December 12, Young had operated her vehicle on Evergreen Boulevard in Cedarburg while under the influence of an intoxicant. (*Id.*)

No officer, including Officer Meyer, ever contacted Young to investigate the allegations that led to the issuance of the citation.

Young entered a Not Guilty Plea on January 31, 2019. (R.6:3.) Mid-Moraine Municipal Court, the Honorable Christine E. Ohlis, presiding, held a bench trial on September 12, 2019. (R.5:2.) The court heard from multiple witnesses—including Officer Meyer. (Id.)

The court, in an oral decision, found Young not guilty and dismissed her citation on October 1, 2019. (R.5:12, 6.)

The City requested a new trial under Wis. Stat. § 800.14(4), (R.1), and the Ozaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Sandy A. Williams, presiding, so ordered, (R.8).

Young moved to dismiss, raising numerous legal objections to the procedure of being cited for OWI without police investigation on the day of the alleged infraction. (R.14:17.) The circuit court heard the motion on July 27, 2020. (R.33:1.) Young argued that "without any sort of police involvement or expert involvement in the investigation of the OWI itself, that ... they can't proceed as a matter of law." (R.33:2.) Young also noted that there was no "reliable information that would allow a court to find that at the time of

Case 2020AP001848 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-11-2021 Page 10 of 35

the driving that [her] abilities were impaired by an intoxicant or alcohol." (R.33:3.)

The court found the motion to dismiss "premature" because, as a matter of law, the court could not dismiss when there was "no evidence before the Court right now." (R.33:6.) The court thus denied Young's motion. (R.17; R.33:7.)

The circuit court held a bench trial on September 29, 2020. (R.34:1.)

Officer Meyer did not participate in the circuit court trial. (R.34:2.) No law enforcement officer testified. (*Id.*)

The City presented testimony from most of the same witnesses that appeared at the municipal court trial, with the notable exception of Officer Meyer or any other law enforcement officer. (R.34:2.)

At the close of the City's case-in-chief, Young moved to dismiss for lack of evidence. (R.34:105). Specifically, Young noted:

What we have here is, essentially, a citizen tip that was never followed up on. We haven't heard from a police officer. We haven't heard about an arrest. We haven't heard about standard field sobriety exercises which are tools that law enforcement uses to determine whether or not they have probable cause to arrest. ... [T]here's no chemical testing of blood or breath within three hours of the time Ms. Young allegedly drove.

(*Id.*) Young again raised the issue of the lack of Officer Meyer's presence during closing argument, noting:

[T]here is not a single case in this Country where ... there conviction for OWI without involvement....The police are the people who investigate crimes. They are the ones that do the investigation, not teachers and school liaisons, assistant principals. They are not trained. They don't have the capacity to make this determination. And the City itself failed to even call the officer who issued the ticket in this case....[W]e don't testimony have to get us to involvement....She was never interviewed. She was never pulled over. She was never spoken to. This was an OWI ticket that was mailed to her. If there had been predicate offenses, we could be talking about a felony offense, in theory, where the State would be asking the jury to convict on these facts. And it's just not plausible....

Case 2020AP001848 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-11-2021 Page 11 of 35

It's effectively a citizen's arrest without an arrest in this case which there is no statutory authority that allows that in Wisconsin.

(R.34:11718) (emphasis). Young also noted a "police liaison officer" was present on campus at the time, but that officer "had no involvement" in this investigation. (*Id.*)

Because of the lack of any law enforcement participation at trial, the City never produced evidence of whether and how Officer Meyer was invited to investigate, whether and how he corroborated the opinions of the lay witnesses, or whether and how the citation was even served on Young. Indeed, Officer Meyer's name was never even mentioned at trial. At no point did the City demonstrate how Young came to be under the jurisdiction of the court.

Young's other primary argument for dismissal was the lack of evidence for a key element of the charged offense:

[E]ven if the Court were to believe all the witnesses, that she was intoxicated when she was at school, we can't get to the driving in this case. And so I don't believe that even looking at the evidence in light ... most favorable to the City, that there's clear, convincing evidence that at the time of driving Ms. Young was intoxicated.

(R.34:107) (emphasis). Young renewed this line of reasoning at closing argument:

And so taking everything that the City even says still never gets you to at the time of the driving and that's what we're talking about. And so she can stink like alcohol, she could be falling down, which clearly she isn't in the video, but it still doesn't get us to the fact of, what was her condition at the time of driving.

(R.34:11819) (emphasis).

Young noted that between the municipal court's finding of not guilty and the new trial before the circuit court, the City had "not produced any additional evidence that would support a conviction." (R.34:119.)

The court denied the motion to dismiss, concluding that the City had "shown a prima facie case." (R.34:109.)

In an oral decision, the circuit court found Young guilty. (R.34:129.)

As to police involvement, the court "d[id]n't know" if "the law requires law enforcement to be the ones enforcing

Case 2020AP001848 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-11-2021 Page 12 of 35

OWIs," noting that the defense "ha[d]n't cited anything" to that effect. (R.34:122.) The court found "having the person perform field sobriety tests or taking a breathalyzer" is "just not required." (*Id.*)

The court stated: "I've been ticketed through the mail when an officer never saw me, but it was on camera." (R.34:12829). At no point did the court acknowledge that OWI infractions carry potential criminal collateral consequences that speeding tickets cannot. Nor did the court elaborate on the process by which even a speeding ticket can be issued in Wisconsin without any law enforcement involvement whatsoever, much less an OWI citation or criminal complaint.

As to driving, the court had "no problem saying she was driving the vehicle even at 11:31 or 11:30." (R.34:126.) The court was convinced "that she was under the influence of an intoxicant ... within a half hour of that driving." (*Id.*)

As to intoxication, the court stated: "I don't think there's any question that she was under the influence of an intoxicant as recent as 11:31 when the first witness made an observation of her, ... and was under the influence of an intoxicant when she was operating that motor vehicle when she came into the school parking area." (R.34:127) (emphasis).

As detailed below, *no one observed* Young until *after* 11:34 a.m., some minutes after she allegedly drove into the school parking lot at 11:31 a.m. (See R.34:82, 108.)

After rendering its judgment, the court inquired, "As to the penalty, that was already done in municipal court or not?" (R.34:129.) At municipal court, Young was found not guilty, and her citation was dismissed. (R.5:1.)

The court imposed a \$911.00 forfeiture, six-month revocation, AODA assessment, and a one-year IID. (R.34:131, 133.)

Young timely appealed. (R.22, R.27.)

## II. Factual History

On December 12, 2018, Katherine Young was a teacher at Cedarburg High School. (R.34:6.) She arrived shortly after 7:00 a.m. and began her day as usual. (R.34:54.) Her day began without incident, and no one had any suspicions about Young's behavior. (See, e.g., id.) At 9:48 a.m., Young left in a red

Case 2020AP001848 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-11-2021 Page 13 of 35

vehicle to go to the hospital for a pre-arranged blood draw related to a recent miscarriage. (R.34:5556, 87.) After the blood draw, Young went home briefly to heat up enchiladas for lunch. (R.34:56.)

At 11:31 a.m., surveillance video recorded a red vehicle driving on Evergreen Boulevard, pulling into the parking lot, and parking in what was allegedly Young's reserved parking space. (R.34.77.) While witnesses could only visually identify one driver and no front-seat passenger, all agreed that it was impossible to tell (a) who was driving the vehicle, or (b) whether there were any passengers in the vehicle, which is obscured by tinted windows. (*See*, *e.g.*, R.34:8283.) It was also impossible to read a license plate and, obviously, no way to ascertain the VIN. (R.34:9293.)

While on camera, the red vehicle could not be observed violating any traffic laws, driving erratically, crashing, or doing anything that would lead anyone to believe the driver was under the influence. (R.19, "NE Lot Evergreen Drive Return 11.30.5211.35.32.") No one alleged having observed the red vehicle being operated in a manner that would demonstrate the driver was "less able to exercise the clear judgment and steady hand necessary to handle and control a motor vehicle." WIS JI-CRIMINAL 2633.

Because of a gap in video footage, no person or persons could be seen exiting the red vehicle. (R.34:7879.) Also, no witness personally observed Young—or anyone else—exiting the red vehicle, (*see*, *e.g.*, R.34:8284), contrary to the court's factual finding, (R.34:127).

At 11:34 a.m., a different camera recorded Young entering the school. (R.34.11.) There are no visual recordings and no personal observations of Young herself from approximately 9:48 a.m. to 11:34:10 a.m. (R.19, "Door 48 Lobby Return 11.34.0911.34.28"; R.34:37.)

Five lay witnesses testified that through various interactions with Young between 11:34 a.m. and approximately 1:15 p.m., each came to believe Young had been drinking alcohol at some point. (R.34:2.) They described smelling alcohol (R.34:8, 34, 48, 66, 98); and alleged that Young struggled to open the entrance door (R.34:17); swayed and struggled to walk straight (R.34:2223, 40); braced herself against a doorway (R.34:32); sat in a "non-professional"

Case 2020AP001848 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-11-2021 Page 14 of 35

manner (R.34:48, 52); slurred her speech (R.34:32, 41, 66, 98); seemed flushed and had discolored legs (R.34:66, 85); failed to put "semicolons" [sic] in her written timeline for the day (R.34:71); and became increasingly agitated and responded "inappropriately" when the administration called Young's mother to come pick her up (R.34:51).

cross-examination, Young's counsel raised questions concerning Young's night-job as a bartender (as an alternative explanation for the odor of alcohol) (R.34:57, 104); elicited agreement that Young had her hands full while entering the building (as an alternative explanation for allegedly struggling to open the door) (R.34:18); demonstrated that the associate principal had no trouble understanding Young's speech while she told her about her medical issues (R.34:8788); and confirmed that none of the witnesses had any formal training in law enforcement or medical sciences that granted them the expertise to assess Young's level of intoxication (if any) as it related to her ability to control a vehicle, or to rule out alternative explanations for the other apparent indicia of intoxication (such as fasting for and undergoing a blood draw, or other medical issues) (R.34:2829, 36, 5758, 6061, 84, 103).

Over Young's objection, the circuit court allowed testimony regarding the principal asking Young to take a preliminary breath test (PBT), the results of which were inadmissible. (R.34:46; *see* Wis. Stat. § 343.303). Young noted that the parties had stipulated that a PBT would not be admissible and thus discussion thereof lacked foundation and was irrelevant. (R.34:46.) Nevertheless, the court allowed the testimony to proceed (*id.*), and the City noted Young's reaction to being asked to take a PBT as evidence of her intoxication during its closing argument. (R.34:122.)

At no point did a law enforcement officer ask Young to submit to a chemical test of her breath or blood, and no such admissible test ever occurred, a point Young raised at trial. (R.34:105.)

Despite the presence of a Cedarburg Police School Resource Officer (SRO) on campus, at no point did anyone involve the SRO, or any other law enforcement, in the purely layperson "investigation" of Young's condition on December 12. (R.34:5960.) Principal Adam Kurth testified:

Case 2020AP001848 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-11-2021 Page 15 of 35

- Q Police don't ever arrest her, correct?
- A Correct. We didn't ask for police involvement in my office.
- Q Police don't administer any tests, correct, in the school while you're there?
- A Don't or did not?
- Q Did not.
- A They did not, correct.
- Q You never ... asked for the resource officer to investigate, correct?
- A Correct.
- Q You never even called the police, correct?
- A We don't call the police. We refer to our resource officer when needed.
- Q But you didn't do that ... on the day in question, correct?
- A Correct.

### (R.34:5960.)

According to the record on appeal, the circuit court never heard—nor asked to hear—about *any* investigation by law enforcement into the events giving rise to Young's case. As far as the circuit court was concerned, this was an entirely lay-led and lay-executed investigation, which the court affirmed by finding Young guilty.

The principal called Young's mother to come and take her home. (R.34:51.) When Young's mother arrived, the principal escorted Young out of the building. (R.34:52.) Young subsequently walked home. (R.34:53.)

No one ever observed Young drive her vehicle after she was alleged to have consumed alcohol—in person or on video.

Young received a citation in the mail *forty-three days later*. (R.4.) The citation charged her with violating local ordinance 10-1-1(A), adopting Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a). (*Id.*)

That was the first time Young became aware of any legal issues related to a work-related incident forty-three days earlier.

### **ARGUMENT**

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