FILED 02-09-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT 2

## City of Cedarburg,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

Appeal No. 20-AP-1848

## Katherine D. Young,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A DECISION AND ORDER ENTERED BY THE OZAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT THE HONORABLE SANDY A. WILLIAMS, PRESIDING

## PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

HOUSEMAN & FEIND LLP
Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent
JOHNATHAN G. WOODWARD
State Bar No. 1056307
P.O. Box 104
Grafton, Wisconsin 53024-0104
Telephone (262) 377-0600
Facsimile (262) 377-6080
jgw@housemanlaw.com

##

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

To put a finer point on it: Young walked back into the school building at 11:34:10, and in less than 90 seconds, <u>two</u> staff members separately and independently became concerned of Young's apparent intoxication.

Principal Kurth went to Young's classroom after Van Dinter reported what she had seen. R. 34 at 39. Kurth first saw Young at 11:36 a.m. "staggering down the hallway" and "not able to keep a straight line." R. 34 at 40, R. 19, file titled "Main Hall N Classroom to Rm 5 11.36.30-11.38.43" at 11:36:33-11:36:44. Kurth waited for Young to return to her classroom, which she did about two minutes

Kurth immediately smelled a "very distinct odor of alcohol" and saw that Young "continued to stagger." R. 34 at 40. Young couldn't maintain eye contact and was very slouched in her chair. *Id.* Kurth asked if there was anything he should know; Young replied "no." *Id.* Kurth asked again, and Young's response was "elevated, almost a little angry." *Id.* Kurth directly asked if Young was under the influence, which she denied. *Id.* However, Young's speech remained "slurred" and "delayed" and her overall "processing was delayed, slow." *Id.* at 40-41. Kurth believed these were all "clear signs she was under the influence at that point." *Id.* at 40-41.

Kurth directed Young to go to Kurth's office, because students would soon be arriving. R. 34 at 41. Young refused. *Id.* Kurth directed her a second time, at which point Young opened a can of soda and began swishing it around in her mouth. *Id.* 

Young continued to protest going to the office, stating she did nothing wrong, but ultimately relented and went to the office with the principal. R. 34 at 42. In the office, Young continued to deny drinking or being intoxicated, with her tone becoming more sharp and defensive. *Id.* at 45. However, Kurth continued to notice slurred speech. *Id.* 

Ultimately, school staff asked Young to submit to a preliminary breath test, or PBT<sup>2</sup>. R. 34 at 45-46. After the first request, Young

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The City has always acknowledged that the <u>result</u> of the PBT is statutorily inadmissible. Wis. Stat. § 343.301. The City has <u>never</u> agreed or stipulated that discussion of the events leading up to the PBT, including Young's reaction to being asked to submit to a PBT, was inadmissible, and it is disappointing that

refused and tried to leave the principal's office. *Id.* at 46. Young then refused a second request. *Id.* Then, Young took a "sucker" from a candy dish and began to eat it. *Id.* at 47. She also drank some of the soda she had with her. *Id.* at 73. Ultimately, Young did provide a PBT sample to the school staff. *Id.* 

Principal Kurth left to speak with district office administrators, leaving Young with Assistant Principal Carolyn McNerney and Assistant Principal Trent Berg. R. 34 at 47. When he returned, he continued to smell the odor of alcohol in the room where Young was located. *Id.* at 48. Kurth then asked Young to write out a timeline of the day's events. *Id.* at 48-49, R. 20. Kurth noted that the handwriting was sloppy as compared to Young's normal handwriting. R. 34 at 50.

Assistant Principal Carolyn McNerney went into Principal Kurth's office a few minutes after Young came into the office. R. 34 at 66. When McNerney entered, she could "immediately smell alcohol in the room." *Id.* She also could tell that Young's speech was slurred, and had a flushed face and legs. *Id.* After Principal Kurth left, Young repeatedly asked what was going on and why she couldn't be in her class. *Id.* at 67. McNerney repeatedly responded that they were concerned for Young and that a different Spanish teacher was covering her class. *Id.* at 66-68. Young claimed the last time she had consumed alcohol was the previous night. *Id.* at 69. But McNerney opined that "there was no reason she should still have what appeared to be an intoxicated reaction to the alcohol she had the night before." *Id.* McNerney testified she was "very certain" Young was under the influence of an intoxicant based on the odor of

Young mischaracterized this both at trial and in her brief. R. 34 at 46, Appellant's Br. at 7.

alcohol, slurred speech, repeatedly asking the same questions, and agitated demeanor. *Id.* at 80.

Assistant Principal Trent Berg first learned of the situation when Jennifer Batiansila reported her concerns to him around 11:45 a.m. R. 34 at 96-97. After Principal Kurth stepped away, Berg was asked to step into Kurth's office to sit with Young and McNerney. *Id.* at 98. Upon entering the office, he immediately smelled alcohol, which was strong enough he could smell it from a few feet away. *Id.* at 98. He also noted Young's speech was slurred and she repeatedly asked the same questions. *Id.* 

Staff then called Young's husband to pick her up; he refused. R. 34 at 51. They next called Young's mother, who was listed as an emergency contact. *Id.* Young responded angrily by stating "you called my f—king mother, you just made it worse." *Id.* At some point while Young was in the office, the principals took Young's car keys away from her, as "it was very evident that she was intoxicated and we did not want her to have the ability to drive home." *Id.* at 52.

All of this is evidence of intoxication at the time Young was driving because of the incredibly short period of time that elapsed between Young's vehicle in the process of parking at 11:31:27 a.m. to when Young opens the exterior door of the high school at 11:34:10 a.m., and is observed in very short order by Batiansila at 11:34, Van Dinter at 11:35 a.m., and Kurth at 11:36 a.m. Young argued at trial, and argues again here, that the City didn't disprove that Young consumed alcohol after driving, i.e., between 11:31:27 a.m. and 11:34:10 a.m. Appellant's Br. at 13-14, R. 34 at 115 (arguing Young "could have slammed a flask in the car" between parking and walking into the school.) But Young offered nothing more than argument to support this claim. Fact finders are called upon to use their common sense and life experience, not abandon it. Common

sense does not support a finding that Young was not intoxicated at 11:31:27 a.m. but was suddenly intoxicated in three to five minutes' time. In any event, "[w]hen evidence supports the drawing of either of two conflicting but reasonable inferences, the trial court, and not [the appellate] court, must decide which inference to draw." *Plesko v. Figgie Int'l*, 190 Wis. 2d 764, 775, 528 N.W.2d 446 (Ct. App. 1994).

The same is true for Young's contention that the City did not disprove alternate theories, such as Young's night job as a bartender as an alternate explanation for the odor of alcohol, or "fasting for and undergoing a blood draw, or other medical issues" as an explanation for the various indicia of intoxication observed by the witnesses. Appellant's Br. at 12. These arguments invite this Court to substitute its judgment for that of the circuit court in deciding between competing factual inferences, which this Court may not do.

The circuit court found that the observations of the principal, assistant principals, and other school staff, in conjunction with the surveillance video evidence, were sufficient to demonstrate Young was driving while under the influence of an intoxicant. This finding was supported by ample evidence the circuit court described as "incredibly strong." R. 34 at 128, Resp't. App. at 7. Therefore, this Court should affirm the circuit court's decision and order.

# IV. There is no requirement that an OWI prosecution must be supported by law enforcement testimony

To prove a municipal ordinance or traffic violation, a prosecuting entity must offer evidence that proves the elements of an offense to a reasonable certainty by evidence that is clear, satisfactory, and convincing. Wis. Stats. §§ 800.08(3), 345.45. The circuit court found that the City met its burden. Because that finding was not clearly erroneous, this Court should affirm.

While it is common in OWI cases for a law enforcement officer to testify, there is no statute or case that mandates it. There is simply no bright-line requirement that the intoxication prong of an OWI citation or charge be satisfied by any particular type of testimony or evidence, other than the evidence must be admissible, and Young cites no authority to the contrary.

It is common for police to receive a 911 call or other citizen tip of impaired driving and, on the basis of the tip, conduct a traffic stop. Because that's a common way OWI cases start, there are many reported cases discussing when police must corroborate a citizen tip as a predicate to a traffic stop, as Young discusses at length in her brief. Appellant's Br. at 21-22. Those cases analyze under the Fourth Amendment the constitutional justification and reasonableness of the stop in various factual contexts. None of those cases have applicability here, as it is undisputed that police did not conduct a stop, seizure, or other Fourth Amendment event in this case. R. 14 at 5. While it is common for an OWI investigation to start with a traffic stop, it is not required. None of the cases cited by Young stand for the proposition that law enforcement observation or testimony is a per se requirement in an OWI case.

The essence of Young's argument is that the City's evidence was weak or unreliable because it came from lay persons and not from law enforcement that is trained in detecting and testing impaired drivers. Appellant's Br. at 12. That argument goes to the weight of the evidence, not its admissibility. It is the job of the fact finder, not an appellate court, to consider the weight of the testimony. *Lessor v. Wangelin*, 221 Wis. 2d 659, 667, 586 N.W.2d 1 (Ct. App. 1998).

Young also offers no case or statute in support of her argument that OWI cases should be evaluated differently than other traffic forfeiture actions. Young correctly describes the progressive penalty scheme for OWI cases. Appellant's Br. at 23. But the existence of progressively more severe penalties for OWI offenses does not mean that a first offense OWI citation is legally distinguishable from other forfeiture level traffic violations with respect to the burden of proof or the evidence required to secure a conviction.

The statutory provisions relating to issuance of noncriminal traffic citations do not specify that the officer must personally witness the violation. *See generally* Wis. Stats. chs. 345, 800. An officer may issue a criminal traffic citation so long as the officer "has reasonable grounds to believe" the person committed a misdemeanor; there is likewise no requirement of first-person observation. Wis. Stat. § 968.085(2). There is likewise no requirement that police must testify at trial, for traffic matters or even for crimes. *E.g.*, *Taylor v. State*, 580 N.E.2d 223 (Ind. 1991) (affirming murder conviction where State offered only eyewitness testimony); *Appraicio v. State*, 431 Md. 42, 63 A.3d 599 (2012) (affirming second-degree assault conviction where State offered only victim's testimony, recordings of victim's 911 calls, and video of victim's injuries.)

There is no statutory or common law requirement that a police officer must testify to prove that a person drove while under the influence of an intoxicant, or any other traffic violation. This Court should affirm the circuit court.

# V. Young forfeited any argument regarding the confrontation clause; regardless, there was no error

Young admits she did not raise an objection to a confrontation clause violation in the circuit court. App. Br. at 18. Therefore, this Court should find Young has forfeited appellate review of this issue.

The general rule is only those issues raised in the trial court can be raised on appeal. *E.g.*, *Vollmer v. Luety*, 156 Wis. 2d 1, 10, 456 N.W.2d 797 (1990). When a trial is held to the court, a party has 20 days after judgment to seek reconsideration of the court's findings or conclusions. Wis. Stat. § 805.17(3). A failure to seek reconsideration constitutes forfeiture of any manifest error. *Schinner v. Schinner*, 143 Wis. 2d 81, 92-93, 420 N.W.2d 381 (Ct. App. 1998). This Court uses the plain error doctrine sparingly, reserving it for "exceptional" cases where there is error that is "obvious and substantial" or where "the real controversy has not been fully tried." Wis. Stat. § 752.35, *State v. Miller*, 2012 WI App 68, ¶ 18, 341 Wis. 2d 737, 816 N.W.2d 331, *State v. Schutte*, 2006 WI App 135, ¶ 62, 295 Wis. 2d 256, 720 N.W.2d 469.

In her motion to dismiss at the end of the City's case in chief, Young did not mention the confrontation clause or make any constitutional argument. R. 34 at 105-107. Rather, Young's argument was essentially the same as the argument Young makes here: that the evidence was insufficient because Young contends an OWI prosecution can't survive without police testimony. *Id*.

Regardless, Young had no confrontation rights, and because there was no violation of Young's cross-examination rights, the circuit court did not commit plain error.

The confrontation clause, by its plain text in both the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions, applies only to "criminal prosecutions." U.S. Const. amend. VI, Wis. Const. art. I, § 7. No confrontation clause rights attach in a civil case, including a civil forfeiture action for first-offense OWI. *Town of Geneva v. Tills*, 129 Wis. 2d 167, 176, 384 N.W.2d 701 (1986).

*Tills*, and other cases, confirm that defendants have a common law right to cross-examine witnesses who testify against them. *Id.* at 179-80. But the officer who issued the citation did <u>not</u> testify against Young in circuit court, nor did the City attempt to introduce any statement made by the issuing officer.

Instead, Young argues that the officer is Young's "accuser" and, breathtakingly, that the officer's issuance of the citation makes the officer a "hearsay declarant." Appellant's Br. at 19. This argument widely misses the mark.

At its core, the confrontation clause prohibits a trial court receiving into evidence "out-of-court statements by someone who does not testify at the trial" if the statement is "testimonial." State v. Mattox, 2017 WI 9, ¶ 24, 373 Wis. 2d 122, 890 N.W.2d 256, citing Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 68 (2004) (emphasis added). Young fails to realize a citation is a pleading, not a "statement." City of Cedarburg v. Hansen, 2020 WI 11 ¶¶ 27, 41, 390 Wis. 2d 109, 938 N.W.2d 463. Young also doesn't mention that the citation was never received (and could not be received) into evidence. Just like a criminal complaint, a citation is not testimony and it is not evidence. Cf. State v. Oppermann, 156 Wis. 2d 241, 246 n.2, 456 N.W.2d 625 (Ct. App. 1990) (citing WIS. JI-CRIMINAL 145). Because the citation was not (and could not be) offered as evidence of the truth of the matter asserted, by definition it is not "hearsay." Wis. Stat. § 908.01(3). Finally, the City is the plaintiff party, not the individual officer who issued the citation.

There is no categorical requirement that the officer who issues a citation be called to testify, just as the State, in a criminal prosecution, is not required to call as a witness the person (usually a law enforcement officer) who swears to a criminal complaint. Young cites to no case or statute holding to the contrary.

Even if this Court concludes there was error, it was harmless, as Young conceded in the circuit court that the officer's role was limited to a follow-up investigation one week after the incident, comprising interviews of the witnesses at the high school and review of the surveillance video. R. 14 at 2. The City simply chose to not call<sup>3</sup> as a witness someone who—as Young agrees—made no firsthand observations on the date of the offense. The witnesses who made those first-hand observations were called by the City to testify at trial, and Young cross-examined them.

Young forfeited this argument; regardless, there was no error. This Court should affirm the circuit court.

### VI. Young forfeited any argument that the court lacked jurisdiction; regardless, the court had jurisdiction

Young mentions that "[a]t no point did the City demonstrate how Young came to be under the jurisdiction of the court." Appellant's Br. at 4. Young does not go further in developing this argument, so this Court may decline to address it as inadequately briefed. Roehl v. American Family Mut. Ins. Co., 222 Wis. 2d 136, 149, 585 N.W.2d 893 (Ct. App. 1998). For the same reasons set forth in section V, supra, Young forfeited this argument because Young never raised any jurisdictional objection in the circuit court, either before, during, or after trial.

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